
[image: Cover: The Last Slave Ship, by Ben Raines]


The Last Slave Ship

The True Story of How Clotilda Was Found, Her Descendants, and an Extraordinary Reckoning

Ben Raines






Thank you for downloading this Simon & Schuster ebook.

Get a FREE ebook when you join our mailing list. Plus, get updates on new releases, deals, recommended reads, and more from Simon & Schuster. Click below to sign up and see terms and conditions.




CLICK HERE TO SIGN UP




Already a subscriber? Provide your email again so we can register this ebook and send you more of what you like to read. You will continue to receive exclusive offers in your inbox.








[image: The Last Slave Ship, by Ben Raines, Simon & Schuster]






For the millions whose lives were stolen, and whose stories will never be known.






Introduction

A secret beneath the murky waters of an Alabama swamp has been revealed. One hundred and sixty years after she was burned and sunk to hide evidence of a ghastly crime, the wreck of the Clotilda—the last ship to bring enslaved Africans to America—was finally discovered. The ship has haunted those associated with her final voyage for generations. This is the story of that ship, the people shaped by her complex legacy, and the healing that began on both sides of the Atlantic when her wooden carcass finally came to the surface.

Joycelyn Davis’s ancestors were among those chained in the Clotilda’s hold on July 9, 1860, smuggled into America under the cover of night by a man named Timothy Meaher, who’d made a bet on the eve of the Civil War that he could import a load of enslaved people from Africa despite a federal law outlawing the international slave trade. After successfully returning to Alabama from Ouidah, one of Africa’s most notorious slave ports, in modern-day Benin, with 110 captives, Meaher and his confederates immediately tried to destroy the Clotilda to escape prosecution. Though the fire failed to fully consume the ship before it sank, their efforts were enough to hide it from view and allow them to escape punishment. Joycelyn already knew the story of the Clotilda when she encountered it as a nine-year-old in her textbook in fourth grade. The tale had been passed down through her family for generations. Seeing a picture of Cudjo Lewis in her schoolbook, her reaction was fear—fear that her classmates would figure out “that I was related to those Africans.” Even in the 1990s, being related to the Africans who founded Africatown, her hometown, was cause for derision from some in the community. Since the earliest days after the Clotilda Africans arrived, they were mocked by American-born Black people for their accents, facial scarifications, tattoos, and other “savage” traditions. That ostracism was still prominent toward descendants of the Clotilda passengers through the 1950s and ’60s within the Africatown community, when, in the words of one resident, “anything African was painted as bad, you didn’t want to be associated with Africa.” Joycelyn felt keenly that way in the 1990s. She continued trying to hide her family legacy through high school. The shame she felt came to a head in history class in her junior year when her teacher, Ms. Crocker, told the class that her ancestors were from France and asked if anyone knew where their family came from. Joycelyn started to raise her hand.

“But I did not do it. I was ready to tell… then I thought about my friends, and that’s crazy, but I didn’t say anything. I knew people knew. I mean, my great-grandmother lived over here in the Quarters and we went to her house every week,” Joycelyn remembered. “This is a small town. People knew, ‘OK, they came from those Africans.’ I wasn’t teased or anything. My family wasn’t ashamed. It was really just me. I don’t know why I was ashamed. The story I guess. You know, there was a dispute between tribes in Africa. Then there was a bet here in Alabama. So you were sold by your own. Then there are these guys making a bet that they can come over and get you. Why would you tell anybody that? Why would you tell anybody? As you become older and wiser, you learn more. But growing up, I didn’t have that.”

While some hid from their history, others, like Darron Patterson, the president of the Clotilda Descendants Association, had it hidden from them. Patterson was unaware that he was a direct descendant of the Africans until he was sixty because his mother, ashamed of her connection to the former slaves, lied to him about it until the day she died. After she passed away, Darron finally learned of his birthright through a chance encounter on the street with two of his mother’s old friends. He was stunned to discover that his great-grandmother and his great-aunt—a prominent figure in his life—had been born to the Clotilda slaves.

“My momma would say, ‘I’m not an African.’ So we didn’t know. We knew people who lived around us were related to the Africans, but my mother always insisted we weren’t.… She didn’t want us to think about slavery and where we came from. She was ashamed to a degree about how we got here,” Patterson said. “The crazy thing is her aunt, Eva Allen, who I knew all my life, was actually one of the last children born to one of the slaves.… Aunt Eva lived until 1992 and would always say we were related to the Africans. But my mother just always said, ‘Don’t believe anything she says. She’s crazy. She’s not African and neither are you.’ ”

To the nation at large, the story of the arrival of the last enslaved Africans on the Clotilda was little more than a historical footnote. Around Mobile, Alabama, where many of the Clotilda’s passengers ended up living after emancipation, the story had, conveniently for some, come to be treated as myth. Without the shipwreck, people said there was no proof the story was true. That remained the case until April 9, 2018, when, after an extensive search, I dove underwater in scuba gear and came up holding the first piece of Clotilda to see the light of day in 160 years. It took a team of archaeologists a year to confirm my find.

“You don’t know what this means. They’ve been calling us liars for years,” said Lorna Woods, Joycelyn Davis’s aunt, after the ship was found. “Back in the day, they just thought we was talking nonsense. They didn’t want to hear about that old stuff.”

Woods said it has been a struggle to get people to cherish their Clotilda ancestors and recognize Africatown’s story. She has spent decades trying to assemble as much of her family’s history as she could, gathering city records and any documents she could find, backing up the family lore shared by her grandmother, whose parents arrived on the Clotilda.

“People I met, they didn’t have a story like ours. They didn’t know anything about where they’d come from or when their people arrived here.… I got it from my grandmomma, Eugenia Bond. She lived right next to the church and tried to make sure we learned this history. She would talk it all the time, and she’d say, ‘Don’t y’all ever forget this history.’ ”

For decades, Mrs. Woods has visited schools with a homemade fold-out display covered in yellowed newspaper clippings and black-and-white photos of her ancestors that have been saved as family keepsakes. “My grandmother and my mother, they were proud we came from the Africans, but most people tried to hide it. We’ve lost so much of the history because people were ashamed to be called African. The people in Mobile started saying none of it was true. But now, with the ship, they can’t do that anymore. We’ve been telling the truth all along.”

Out of twenty thousand ships used in the global slave trade, just thirteen have been found, and the Clotilda is the only ship ever found that brought enslaved people to America. Remarkably, descendants of those smuggled aboard the ship still live in Africatown, a community founded after the Civil War by the Clotilda survivors, on land they bought from the plantation owners who had enslaved them. The original name was African Town, because the thirty-plus founders, who had only been in America for five years at the war’s end, ruled it according to the laws and customs of their African homeland. By the early 1900s, Africatown was the fourth largest community in the nation governed by African-Americans, attracting the attention of Booker T. Washington, Zora Neale Hurston, and others. By the 1950s, there were movie theaters, grocery stores, barbershops, restaurants, and twelve thousand residents.

Today, Africatown is on the brink of disappearing. All the businesses and most of the people are gone. Fewer than two thousand people live in the old neighborhoods. The Meahers, the same family that removed the Clotilda’s passengers from Africa, have in effect continued to oppress their descendents into the twentieth century. Deciding to get out of the house rental business after nearly a century as one of Africatown’s most prominent landlords, the Meaher family suddenly bulldozed hundreds of rental properties they had built, destroying much of Africatown’s housing stock, rendering entire city blocks into vacant lots. They leased or sold their old plantation land surrounding the community for paper mills and other heavy industry, leaving residents saddled with high rates of cancers associated with environmental pollution. Even today, the Meaher Family Land Trust Group seeks to rezone property it owns in Africatown to bring more industry into the community.

The heroes of this story are the enslaved Africans who survived slaughter and bondage to build the first autonomous African-American community in America, beginning days after the end of slavery. The Clotilda Africans were likely the first Black people to demand reparations from their former enslavers, doing so just weeks after gaining their freedom. Their legacy is carried forward in the modern age by men and women on both sides of the Atlantic, in America and in Benin, who remain determined to unearth this suppressed history for the sake of mending a wound almost too deep to heal. The discovery of the ship animates and propels their longtime efforts. With it, the town’s history has been made real and can no longer be ignored.

We owe a tremendous debt to four women, without whom I could not have found the ship. These women are responsible for preserving the story of the Clotilda and, more importantly, the stories of this last group of Africans brought to the United States in bondage. The books written by each of the women, published over the course of one hundred years, together document the forces that led to the creation of Africatown, Alabama, the only community in the nation started by people who were born in Africa. Because of these women, we have some of the only firsthand accounts of an African slaving raid as experienced by the victims. We have a half dozen voices describing the horrors of the Middle Passage, the forced voyage of enslaved Africans to the New World. We know how desperately the Clotilda captives longed for home and family left behind. What’s more, we know more about the fate of the 110 souls imprisoned on board Clotilda than is known about any of the millions of other people who were enslaved in the Americas. We know exactly what part of Africa they came from, who captured and sold them, who bought them, exactly when they arrived in America, and what happened to them once they were here. The record of their experience illuminates and informs the lost histories of millions of African-American families who know only that their forebears were also stolen and shipped across the ocean.

Emma Langdon Roche, born in Mobile in 1878, published Historical Sketches of the South in 1914. It is the first and most important history, written while eight of the Clotilda survivors were still alive. Roche was the daughter of a Mobile, Alabama, funeral director and Confederate Civil War hero. She first came to know the story through one of the Clotilda Africans who worked for her father as a gravedigger for many years. Fascinated, she made herself a regular visitor to African Town, sketching and photographing the Clotilda survivors. She conducted numerous interviews with the Africans, and knew several personally over the course of decades. She expertly recorded intimate details of their capture, their longing for home, and their new lives in America, fifty-four years after they arrived.

Zora Neale Hurston, an Alabama native, came to Mobile from her home in Harlem in 1927 and 1928 to interview Cudjo Lewis, the last survivor from Africatown’s original settlers. He was eighty-six when they met. She knew of Cudjo through Roche’s book and spent several months in Alabama interviewing him in the one-room cabin he’d built after emancipation and lived in until he died seventy years later. Barracoon, her masterful account of his life, which she finished in 1931, languished in the archives of Howard University until it was finally published in 2018. “All these words from the seller,” she writes in the opening. “Not one word from the sold.” With Roche’s book as her guide, Hurston becomes Cudjo’s conduit to “get in a word for the sold,” producing one of the most definitive accounts in the historical record of a slave raid, life in a barracoon (an African prison where captives were held until they were sold), the ocean crossing, and life during and after enslavement.

Dr. Natalie Robertson, author of The Slave Ship Clotilda and the Making of Africatown, USA, began work on her PhD dissertation in Africatown in 1992, when the Clotilda story was nothing but a historical footnote, completely unknown to the world at large. She captured the last interviews with the generation of people who grew up knowing personally the men, women, and children who arrived on Clotilda, and provided an invaluable record for future historians.

Finally, there is historian Dr. Sylviane Diouf, who published Dreams of Africa in Alabama in 2007 to national acclaim, sparking widespread interest in the Clotilda story. More importantly, using clues from the Africans’ names, religious ceremonies, and the words they spoke in their native tongues, Diouf figured out where many of the Clotilda captives were born, what tribes they belonged to, and the languages they spoke. It was through her work that the descendants living in Africatown and around the United States learned definitively where their forebears were from, down to the level of individual towns. To Ms. Diouf I am most indebted. Her work informed my search for the ship, and she was generous with her time and scholarship as I hunted for it.

But even with their inspired work, these women did not have the power to liberate the descendants of the Clotilda saga from its corrupting history. When the ship was discovered, some Africatown residents still buried the truth of a past they were ashamed of. The people of Benin still buried the truth of their nation’s complicity in centuries’ worth of crimes they were ashamed of. And the white descendants of the enslavers still buried their connection to a legacy they were ashamed of. What this story shows is that the past corrupts souls through the centuries, and that physical evidence is sometimes the only way that the past cannot be ignored. Clotilda was a ghost that haunted three communities—the descendants of those transported into slavery in her hold, the descendants of their fellow Africans who sold them, and the descendants of their American enslavers—and the only way that ghost could begin to be expelled was for the ship to be revealed.






Chapter 1 THE BET


There are multiple historical accounts that describe the moment the saga of the Clotilda was set in motion. None of the accounts agree on all the details, and only two of them rely on actual interviews with Timothy Meaher, the Alabama steamboat captain at the center of the entire affair. The most accepted version of the story suggests Meaher and some of the passengers on his steamboat were discussing the future of slavery in April of 1859 against the backdrop of a nation edging toward war.

Meaher routinely dined with the passengers on board his ships, and after the evening meal would often sit in the richly furnished main salon or out on the upper deck for lively talk and cigars. On this night, Meaher was captaining the Roger B. Taney, the latest addition to his fleet of steamboats. It was a side-wheeler—configured with a paddle wheel on each side of the vessel, rather than one large one in the stern—so as to be more maneuverable in Alabama’s fast and twisting rivers. An advertisement of the day described the boat as having “elegant and spacious staterooms and large, well-ventilated cabins.” Meaher had named the steamer in honor of Roger Taney, then chief justice of the U.S. Supreme Court. Justice Taney wrote the majority opinion in the Dred Scott decision of 1857, which denied citizenship to Black people, regardless of whether they were enslaved or free.

At the time, Meaher and his brothers collectively owned dozens of people purchased at the slave markets in Mobile. In some measure, the story of the Clotilda begins and ends in Mobile, where the ship was built, where the culprits behind the crime lived and worked, and where the Africans imprisoned aboard her toiled for their captors and settled once they were free.

Today, Mobile is a Gulf Coast seaport whose diminutive skyline sports just a handful of buildings more than fifteen stories tall. It is an old city, one of the oldest in the nation, founded in 1702 as the capital of French Louisiana. Mobile was home to the first Catholic diocese in America, and also to the first Mardi Gras celebrations. Most of the real estate downtown, and all of the several miles of waterfront except for a small public park, is taken up by the port, which business in Mobile revolves around, as it has since the heyday of King Cotton, when the city was rivaled only by New Orleans for prominence and wealth along the Gulf Coast.

If you live in Mobile today, the words written by visiting British journalist Hiram Fuller a decade before the Civil War are well known: “The people live in cotton houses and ride in cotton carriages. They buy cotton, sell cotton, think cotton, eat cotton, drink cotton, and dream cotton. They marry cotton wives, and unto them are born cotton children. In enumerating the charms of a fair widow, they begin by saying she makes so many bales of cotton. It is the great staple—the sum and substance of Alabama. It has made Mobile, and all its citizens.” He wrote those words in 1858, two years before the Clotilda voyage, a year before Timothy Meaher made his bet. At the time, Alabama grew more cotton than any other state. The entire voyage of the Clotilda, which cost more than $1 million in today’s dollars, was financed with wealth Meaher earned moving cotton downriver from the plantations to Mobile’s cotton wharves, and from the cotton grown on his own plantation. In his 1892 obituary in the Mobile Daily Register, Meaher is credited with having transported 1,700,000 bales of cotton, a staggering amount weighing 850 million pounds. Meaher’s three oldest descendants, his great-grandsons Joseph, Augustine, and Robert, who together inherited Timothy’s cotton wealth, were considered Mobile’s largest and wealthiest landowners until a family spat a few years ago caused them to divide their holdings.

Cotton money is still everywhere in Mobile. The city’s science museum, art museum, libraries, symphony, ballet, and other cultural resources all benefit from donations given by families made wealthy during the cotton era. Alabama remains one of the largest cotton producers in the nation. Wrangler even sells a line of premium blue jeans with an outline of the state of Alabama on the buttons and a promise that the pants are made of nothing but cotton grown in the state. Head out of Mobile in any direction in the summertime and you’ll pass cotton fields, hundreds of thousands of acres of deep green leaves punctuated by millions of snow-white puffs.

During the fateful run of the Roger B. Taney from Mobile to Montgomery, one of the group—which included a New Yorker, a Southern plantation owner, and a pharmaceutical manufacturer from the East Coast, among others—suggested that slavery was unsustainable due to the ever-increasing price of enslaved people in the South. Prices at the slave markets had indeed increased rapidly across the South in the fifty years since Congress made it illegal to import new slaves from Africa. Known as the Act Prohibiting the Importation of Slaves, the law was signed in 1807 by slave-owning president Thomas Jefferson. It did not affect the domestic slave trade or the right to own people in the United States, but made the importation of Africans a capital offense. The origin of the law dates to the Constitutional Convention of 1787, and the debate there over whether to abolish slavery outright. In a nod toward the states where slavery was prominent, the framers included Article 1, Section 9—which made it expressely illegal to outlaw slavery for at least twenty years, or until the year 1808. Seen in this historical context, the act, which went into effect on January 1, 1808, was a first step toward ending slavery, beginning at the very start of the first year abolition was legally allowed under the Constitution. While the law did not end slavery within the United States, it ultimately made it so expensive to purchase another human that it began to destabilize the Southern economy. In the account relayed by Meaher’s son, one of the Northern passengers described the institution of slavery as “doomed,” because public opinion in the North and in England and Europe was solidifying against the practice. The discussion moved on to the lengths the government had gone toward curtailing the illegal trade, including U.S. Navy boats patrolling the slave coast of Africa and the jumping-off points for slave traders in the Caribbean. The New York passenger suggested that anyone caught trying to enslave people should be killed, as called for in federal law.

“Hanging the worst of them will scare the rest off,” the New Yorker said.

“Nonsense! They’ll hang nobody,” Meaher countered, boasting that he would “import a cargo in less than two years, and no one be hanged for it.” The captain then proposed a bet.

“A thousand dollars that inside two years I myself can bring a shipful of niggers right into Mobile Bay under the officers’ noses.” The officers Meaher referenced would have been U.S. Army officers manning the twin forts located on barrier islands on each side of the mouth of Mobile Bay. For Meaher, the $1,000 bet was inconsequential, even though it would amount to about $30,000 today. He made the bet because he wanted to thumb his nose at the federal government in the most visible way possible, following a path of resistance to federal authority then being charted by several men Meaher admired.

By 1859, there were loud rumblings in the press and Congress that the ban on the international slave trade was putting the South at a growing competitive disadvantage. American-grown cotton had supplanted Indian-grown in European markets and most countries of the world, including England, where as much as 80 percent of the cotton was imported from the American South. The American raw material was better and made for stronger fabric. It was also considerably cheaper than Indian cotton. But the cotton coming out of the South was cheaper thanks solely to the labor of enslaved people. Cotton picked with this “free” labor was the base of the entire Southern economy, and the rising prices in the slave markets threatened to limit production. You can see the growth in cotton farming in this era in the annual value of exports leaving Mobile, which climbed from an average of $9 million per year in the 1840s to $38 million by 1860. That’s equivalent to $1.1 billion in today’s dollars, just from the port of Mobile. As more and more land in the South was stolen from native tribes and put under cultivation, more and more people were needed to plant, pick, and process the cotton. But thanks to the international trade ban, there was now a finite supply.

After the African trade was ended, the legal slave trade simply shifted to the Northeast. Instead of importing new captives from the Côte d’Ivoire, Angola, and Dahomey, the people for sale at the markets in Alabama and Mississippi were coming from the most northern of the slave states—Maryland, Delaware, Virginia, and the Carolinas. By the 1850s, prices were twice as expensive in Mobile as they were in Virginia. A November 1859 article in the Mobile Daily Register reports that “prime” males, which means aged eighteen to thirty-three, cost between $1,400 and $1,800 each at auction. That’s the equivalent of more than $50,000 in today’s dollars. To the plantation set, the vast price discrepancy between the North and the premium prices paid in the South was nothing so much as a way for Yankees to siphon money from the South, almost like a tariff Southerners were forced to pay. So many plantation owners, the Meahers among them, bought slaves from points north.

The illegal trade in humans, which Meaher sought to participate in, began as soon as the 1808 law was on the books. Even American hero Jim Bowie participated in illegal slaving, in an ongoing scam with the pirate Jean Lafitte, who specialized in sneaking captives into America through the Louisiana marshes. At the time, slavery’s proponents argued that the law was a slavery ban in name only, partially an attempt to keep in step with the British, who’d passed a similar law, the Abolition of the Slave Trade Act, in 1807. Like the American law, England’s put a stop to its participation in the international slave trade but did not outlaw slavery in England or her colonies. That didn’t happen for another twenty-six years, until 1833, when Parliament formally ended slavery in the British Empire, freeing about eight hundred thousand people, mostly working on sugar plantations in the Caribbean. It is worth noting that the English accomplished this without a war, though British sugar plantation owners argued to keep the practice. Parliament created a compensation fund, offering the modern equivalent of about $14,000 per enslaved person. The amount spent to appease the enslavers added up to 40 percent of the national budget that year, and was equal to about 16 billion pounds (approximately $22 billion) today. But compared to the cost of the U.S. Civil War in lives and treasure, $22 billion sounds like a bargain.

With the abolition of slavery in the entire British Empire, the largest navy in the world turned its full attention to interrupting the slave trade globally. Prince Albert, newly married to Queen Victoria, made his first public remarks in 1840 as president of the Society for the Extinction of the Slave Trade and for the Civilization of Africa, condemning the “atrocious traffic in human beings” as “repugnant to the spirit of Christianity,” and a stain upon the nations engaged in slavery. A treaty signed in 1842 meant that the United States and Britain established a twin naval presence along the West African coast to catch slavers. In the ensuing years, the anti-slaving squadrons captured dozens of American-flagged vessels caught with loads of captives. By the 1850s, the illegal trade had become much more hazardous, and most captives coming out of Africa were sent to Brazil.

Together, the resulting high prices at the slave markets and the increased risks of illegal slaving manifested in a growing movement in the South to reopen the African slave trade, even as the nations of Europe were abolishing slavery altogether. In South Carolina, the state studied the issue through a grand jury proceeding in 1854. “We present, as our unanimous opinion, that the Federal law abolishing the African Slave Trade is a public grievance. We hold this trade has been and would be, if re-established, a blessing to the American people, and a benefit to the African himself. We would show further that this trade is consistent with the true policy of the south; that slavery itself is authorized and sanctioned by Holy Writ, and experience has taught us that, by introducing African Slavery into the United States, the African has been elevated from a condition of absolute barbarism, to one of comparative civilization; from a condition of heathen darkness, to one of Christian light.… We hold that slavery is forbidden by no principle of policy or religion, except that which springs from the frenzied imagination of fanatic philanthropy, which arrogantly assumes to be purer and holier ‘than what is written.’ ”

To Meaher and his fellow plantation owners, reopening the African slave trade was seen as the only salvation for the collapsing Southern economy. In 1857, Robert Bunch, the British consul in South Carolina, was alarmed enough by popular sentiment that he sent a missive to his handlers back in England with the headline “Increase in the value of Negroes: scarcity of Labor in the Cotton Fields: probable result.” He noted that cotton production had increased 3,000 percent in the fifty years since importation of Africans was banned, while the enslaved population required to pick the ever-growing yield had barely increased at all. Bunch speculated that war was on the horizon between North and South, threatening shipments of the Southern cotton that accounted for 80 percent of English imports. Bunch suggested the Crown should begin thinking about growing the white gold in Africa with paid labor, instead of relying on the American crop.

The price difference between North and South and the frustration with the import ban begin to get at the rationale for the Clotilda bet, but don’t fully explain it. Meaher was already wealthy. Fabulously so, even by the standards of the day. He and his brothers owned many enslaved people, and his position as the most prominent riverboat captain working the Alabama and Tombigbee Rivers during the heyday of the cotton economy had made him one of the richest men in Mobile, itself one of the wealthiest cities in the antebellum South. Why risk it all to bring in a load of slaves? Especially when the legal penalty was death.

In the end, there were two well-publicized events that served to radicalize Timothy Meaher—the failure of the Susan, and the success of the Wanderer.

The Susan was a fast schooner built in the Meaher shipyard, and she and Timothy Meaher played a role in a failed effort to turn Central America into a haven for slavery. At the center of the strange escapade of the Susan is a most unusual character in U.S. history, William Walker, a doctor, lawyer, journalist, and filibuster. In this original context, filibuster refers to a person seeking to cause a revolution in a foreign country, not the act of talking for twenty-four hours in the well of the U.S. Senate to defeat legislation. Walker’s road to attacking other countries was an odd one. He was apparently something of a genius, graduating from college at the age of fourteen, then studying medicine in Pennsylvania, Scotland, and Germany. He practiced medicine for a few years, but decided then to go to law school. He similarly worked as a lawyer for a time, but then bought a newspaper in New Orleans and became enamored with journalism, ultimately moving to California as part of that career. It was there that Walker was shot twice in a duel by a law clerk upset by a critical article.

Having been born in the slave state of Tennessee in 1824, Walker then hit on the idea of invading Mexico and taking control of the portion closest to California, which he would name the Republic of Sonora. He imagined it would ultimately be admitted to the Union as a slave state. This was essentially what had happened in Texas, when American settlers revolted and created the Republic of Texas. But this time, Mexican authorities had other ideas and chased Walker out of the country. Still, the attempt won Walker many admirers, including forces within the government of Nicaragua. When a civil war broke out there, one side invited Walker to intervene on its behalf, which he did with a group of Americans who sailed from San Francisco. Walker famously conquered Nicaragua with a band of soldiers from Southern states, including Alabama. Just thirty-one years old, he ruled the nation for more than a year during 1855 and 1856, and was recognized as the president of Nicaragua by U.S. president James Buchanan before being overthrown by the Costa Rican Army.

After losing power, Walker, then going by “General Walker,” though he was never in the U.S. military, washed up in Mobile in 1858, where he began loudly recruiting money and men for another invasion. Among those contributing to the expedition were both Timothy Meaher and a Captain William Foster, who hailed from Nova Scotia and would soon gain infamy for his role as the captain of the Clotilda voyage. Foster and Meaher owned stakes in the Susan, which had been given to Walker to carry the filibuster force to Nicaragua. It was Meaher’s first act of open rebellion. Others would follow.

Neither Meaher nor Foster signed on to take part in Walker’s pending attempt to invade Nicaragua again, but both, like many wealthy Southerners, supported his plan. Walker’s stated goal was to establish slavery in Central American countries, hopefully bolstering the case to reopen the African slave trade in America. At this juncture, President Buchanan turned on Walker and put the full power of the federal government against the “leaders of former illegal expeditions who had expressed their intention of open hostilities against Nicaragua,” and ordered the military and port officials to be “active, vigilant, and faithful in suppressing these illegal enterprises.” Knowing Walker was assembling men and money for his planned attack on Nicaragua, Buchanan went further, forbidding any ships to leave from Mobile or New Orleans headed to Central America without express permission from federal officials in Washington, D.C. The people controlling cotton money in the South believed Buchanan’s order was an attempt to weaken the South financially. Roche writes that this was “received with indignation throughout the whole of the lower South.” In Mobile, the pending voyage of the Susan drew widespread popular support, including of a financial nature.

The departure of the Susan from the port of Mobile was anything but secret. The McClelland, a federal revenue cutter gunboat, was waiting for the ship to set sail, and captured the Susan and the Walker’s crew of 240 men almost immediately as the wind died just after the Susan set sail in Mobile Bay, leaving the ship dead in the water just a few miles south of the downtown port. The gunboat forced the Susan to drop anchor near Dog River, one of the coastal rivers that flows into the bay. A standoff ensued, with the federal soldiers demanding that the heavily armed crew of the Susan surrender and return to port. The would-be invading army on board refused, and prepared to fight any attempt by the federal forces to board their ship. The standoff continued into the night. Hours later, a heavy fog settled over the bay, obscuring the anchored Susan from view of the federal gunboat. Under cover of the fog, Walker and the crew quietly weighed anchor and sailed down the bay, escaping into the Gulf of Mexico and headed for Nicaragua.

The whole affair fizzled before it began, after Walker and crew wrecked the Susan on a coral reef off Honduras, destroying the ship. The British Navy rescued the soldiers and returned the erstwhile general and his men to Mobile. Walker would attempt to take over a Central American nation one more time a year later, this time landing in Honduras in another borrowed ship. He was not well received. The government executed Walker by firing squad in Honduras at age thirty-six. Still, his example lit a fire in Timothy Meaher to do something, to be a man of action, to take matters into his own hands. We can see Meaher’s embrace of Walker and the dream of creating a Central American slave state in the gift of the Susan, which would have been worth nearly $1 million in today’s currency. Soon, like Walker, Meaher would be putting his own life on the line to further the cause of slavery.

The other galvanizing force that pushed Meaher toward illegal slaving was the exploits of a wealthy Georgian named Charles Augustus Lafayette Lamar, who bought the Wanderer, a luxury yacht, in New York and outfitted her for slaving. Around the time Meaher made his bet, Lamar was being lionized as a hero in newspapers across the nation as tales of the Africans he smuggled into the country spread.

Relying on family money to make his start, Lamar was involved in horse racing, gold mining, road building, and the shipping of cotton. However, it appears he was not particularly good at any of those endeavors, and was repeatedly bailed out of financial disasters by his father, Gazaway. A family history going back three hundred years contains a small mention of Charles, describing him as “a dangerous man, and with all his apparent recklessness and lawlessness, a cautious man, too.” Perhaps not too cautious, as he was known to often resort to violence. While serving as an alderman on the Savannah City Council in 1853, he was arrested for “disorderly conduct and fighting in the streets.” In 1858, he shot out a friend’s eye while attempting to defend his uncle in a fight. Ultimately, he was the last person killed in the Civil War, in a small battle fought in Columbus, Georgia, seven days after the surrender at Appomattox.

In the years before the war, Lamar championed the reopening of the Atlantic slave trade. Like Meaher, his first act of rebellion was to invest money in a filibustering attempt, this one to take over Cuba in 1857, again with the dream of turning it into a slave state.

As for the dangers involved with slaving, namely prosecution, Lamar was as dismissive of the federal government as Meaher was when he made his bet. “The collector of the port is a Lone Star man, and can be sent away for a few days,” Lamar wrote, suggesting he could arrange for the man in charge of the port of Savannah to look the other way when one of his slave ships arrived or departed. He also believed his local political connections would protect him. “The Judge [Circuit Court, U.S.] will not trouble himself, nor do anything more than his duty requires of him. I have no fear myself of the consequences of an infringement of the neutrality laws. [President] Pierce and his whole Cabinet, were they here, could not convict me or my friends. That is the advantage of a small place. A man of influence can do as he pleases,” Lamar wrote.

Interestingly, the Wanderer was outfitted as a slaver on Long Island, which involved building huge cisterns to hold fifteen thousand gallons of water and structures to accommodate the slaves during the Middle Passage. Lalor’s Cyclopaedia from 1881 quotes a New York Evening Post article stating that eighty-five ships were modified for slaving in New York during an eighteen-month period in 1859 and 1860. And numerous accounts place a handful of corrupt New York port officials as being actively involved in looking the other way when it came to the slave ships leaving for Africa from the port. Those ships would most likely have deposited their illicit cargo in Cuba or Brazil, where Americans ran a brisk business trafficking slaves to the places where importation was still legal. But those ships also still sometimes went to the South. The historic record is rife with proof that slaves continued to pour into the country from Africa, with some estimates suggesting as many as ten thousand a year. The federal census from 1870 lists close to two thousand people born in Africa among the country’s population of freed people, a number that is certain to be a vast understatement of the true total.

In November of 1858, Meaher, like people all across the country, read media accounts reporting that the Wanderer was newly arrived back in Georgia with 471 enslaved Africans on board. Robert Bunch, the British consul, described the reaction in South Carolina to the news as a “general feeling of delight,” in “the outwitting of the United States’ authorities, and in the second, at the success of this importation of fresh laborers into the Southern country.”

According to Lamar’s letters, his prisoners were landed on Jekyll Island off the Georgia coast. They were then moved upriver via smaller boats, or overland to buyers in Alabama, Mississippi, and Louisiana. The Africans attracted attention everywhere they went. “The correspondent of the New York Times writes from Montgomery, Alabama, that some forty of the slaves introduced into Georgia by the Wanderer, had arrived in that place from Macon, and would be sent down that river to the plantations to which they are destined. We take it for granted that they will be arrested by officers of the federal government.”

The slaves were not arrested, but Lamar and a number of his minions were. As the news spread of the Wanderer’s arrival, the very port collector whom Lamar had bragged about having in his pocket sent word to the district attorney for the Georgia District that he suspected Lamar and the ship of slaving. The Wanderer was seized. A hearing was held in admiralty court to decide ownership of the vessel. The hearing was presided over by Lamar’s father-in-law, Judge John Nicoll, who ruled that the ship had been used for slaving and should be auctioned off. That his own father-in-law ruled against Lamar is telling. It could not be reassuring for a parent in the South to know that his daughter’s spouse was flamboyantly breaking a federal law that carried the death penalty.

In the end, Lamar was the only person convicted of anything during the six trials related to the Wanderer and its illicit cargo. But Lamar wasn’t convicted of slaving. Instead, he was sentenced to thirty days of home confinement because he broke one of his coconspirators out of jail during his trial so the man could come to a party Lamar was putting on in a nearby hotel. When lawmen turned up to return the escapee to jail, they were turned away by Lamar and other partygoers armed with pistols. The next morning, the prisoner turned himself in and the trial continued. During the trial, Lamar challenged one of the witnesses, a commodore in the U.S. Navy, to a duel over his testimony. Both men missed their shots and the trial continued. The only penalty Lamar or anyone else suffered for participating in the Wanderer episode was thirty days of house arrest and a fine of $250.

A New York Times story about the final outcome of the trials in May of 1860 bore the headline “The Savannah Slave Case. Lamar and His Associates Go Unpunished.”

By then, Timothy Meaher, like people all around the country, had been fascinated by the well-publicized story for more than a year and a half, since word of the arrival of the Africans first hit newspapers in November of 1858. The story remained a hot conversation topic in salons from New York to Alabama, and it was well known that Lamar had challenged the editors of both the New York Times and the New York Tribune to duels in protest of their coverage. His involvement in slaving had made him a swashbuckling figure in the public’s mind, bravely poking the federal government and Yankee elites in Washington in the eye.

The city of Mobile was ripe ground for such sentiments, with a long-standing antipathy toward federal rule tied to unpopular laws such as the “Tariff of Abominations,” and several others, which protected goods manufactured in the North from foreign competition at the expense of the export economies of the Southern states. Timothy Meaher had been shaped by the political climate of Mobile from an early age.

He and his brother James, also a prominent figure in the Clotilda saga, moved to Mobile in 1835, when Timothy was twenty-three, and James twenty-five. When they arrived, Alabama was known as a place where a man could start with nothing and become rich, much like the early settlers in the original colonies had built fortunes in the new world that transformed them and their descendants into aristocrats instead of laborers. This possibility is precisely what attracted the Meahers, whose father was an Irish immigrant stonemason back in Maine. The Meaher boys sought work as deckhands on river steamboats upon their arrival in Mobile. They encountered a radically different world than the home they’d abandoned in Maine. First, Maine was never a slave state. It was considered a free state from the moment it entered the Union in 1820. Federal census records recorded fourteen hundred Blacks in Maine in 1840, five years after the Meahers migrated south. Alabama, by contrast, was home to hundreds of thousands of enslaved African-Americans, representing nearly half of the state’s population. Mobile had several active slave markets located in the center of town, though by the time of the Meahers’ arrival they were used only for the trade of enslaved people already living in the United States, not new imports from Africa.

As cotton boomed, so did Mobile, exploding from a city of fifteen hundred souls in 1820 to more than thirty thousand by 1860, making it Alabama’s largest city, by far. The state’s next largest city, the capital city Montgomery, had a mere eighty-eight hundred people in 1860. In the antebellum South, only the cities of Charleston and New Orleans had larger populations than Mobile. And nationwide, only New York and New Orleans topped Mobile in terms of exports. As the Meaher brothers’ fortunes quickly improved in the booming port city, several of their siblings and spouses moved to Mobile. For four of them, the move proved fatal as they succumbed to yellow fever during the repetitive outbreaks that plagued the city throughout the 1800s.

A picture of Timothy Meaher from around the time of his arrival shows a young man with a round face and high forehead. He sports large mutton chops, a wide and squat nose, and chin-length hair swept mostly to one side of his head. The Mobile Daily Register routinely documented the arrival of ships bearing immigrants like the Meahers. One, the cargo ship Eliza Morrison, captained by a John McCullock and carrying seventy-nine Irish immigrants, was representative of these vessels arriving nearly every day loaded with poor, mostly uneducated and unskilled people hoping for a better life in Alabama. The Eliza Morrison carried farmers, laborers, children, and women, including one Jane Stain listed in the ship logs as a “spinster” though she was but fifteen years old. At the time, a third of Mobile’s population had been born in another country or another state. Imagine then the scene along Mobile’s wharves, with the chatter of immigrants coming in various languages, the calls of oystermen hawking their catch, the hiss of steam boilers firing up amid the clanking of anchor chains and the constant screeching of seagulls. Old photographs of the port area show the masts of dozens of ships tied up alongside the miles of docks. Enormous cotton warehouses butt right up to the water, surrounded by the various businesses vital to the shipping industry.

Visitors to the city remarked on its lovely architecture, a mix of Greek Revival for large public buildings, such as churches and schools, with Italianate homes and villas of the wealthy lining broad, tree-shaded avenues. William Howard Russell, a correspondent for the Times of London, visited Mobile—“the most foreign-looking city I have yet seen in the States”—in 1861, arriving aboard a steamboat captained by Timothy Meaher. He describes a carriage ride through town: “I sallied forth, and had a drive on a shell road by the head of the bay, where there were pretty villarettes in charming groves of magnolia, orange trees and lime-oaks. Wide streets of similar houses spring out to meet the country through sandy roads; some worthy of Streatham or Belham [tony neighborhoods in London], and all surrounded in such vegetation as Kew might envy.”

Russell’s journalistic eye captured the nightlife of Mobile as well. “After dinner we walked through the city, which abounds in oyster saloons, drinking houses, lager-bier and wine shops, and gambling and dancing places. The market was well worthy of a visit—something like St. John’s at Liverpool on a Saturday night, crowded with negroes, mulattoes, quadroons, and mestizos of all sorts, Spanish, Italian, and French, speaking their own tongues, or a quaint lingua franca, and dressed in very striking and pretty costumes.”

A copy of the Mobile Mercantile Advertiser, one of the city’s earliest forms of news and advertising, from November 1835, paints a vivid picture of Mobile in the year the Meaher brothers arrived. I found this particular copy hanging on the wall of my friend Erk Ashbee’s office in Mobile. He found it in a stack of old newspapers in a Mobile garage.

The city it depicts was a place of wealth, industry, and culture. There are ads for violin and waltzing lessons, sealskin boots, velvet vests, and places for sailors to meet women. Waterfront hotels welcomed “bachelors,” promising that “Oysters and other refreshments will be served up in any variety of style that may be desired,” and “an assortment of the very best of liquors will be found.… For the accommodation of gentlemen disposed to amuse themselves.” One of the more prominent ads in these pages is for the night’s entertainment offered at a local theater. There, a Mr. Barton—also star of the show—promises first a popular tragedy, known as Virginus, which debuted in New York City in 1820, and after that a pair of songs, including a “comic song” titled “Puff! Puff! Puff!” The night’s entertainment finished up with a farce called Day After the Wedding, which debuted in London’s Covent Garden in 1808. A total of seven theaters offered programs at the time in Mobile, a testament to the size and spending power of the city’s most elegant society set. Internationally famed Irish actor Tyrone Power, great-grandfather of the 1940s-era American movie star of the same name, even trod the boards in old Mobile.

On an afternoon in the city, one could acquire Moroccan raisins, Spanish saddles, Havana “seegars,” handmade men’s “dancing pumps,” and champagne from France. Many of the ads in the paper are designed to cater to the thousands of sailors who passed through the city each year aboard schooners, barks, steamships, and riverboats. For instance, St. John, Price, and Co., a downtown haberdashery, “have received per ship Lorena and other recent arrivals, a handsome assortment of Fashionable Seasonal Clothing direct from our Manufactury in New York.” The haul includes goat hair coats, boiled camel hair coats, “fancy colored pants,” collars, suspenders, gloves, and, specifically for the sailor, “black lion skin great coats, pea coats, monkey coats…,” and many more. It is unclear if the black lion skin coat was actually made of lion pelts, but the monkey coat was definitely not made of monkey fur. Instead, the term is a reference to the short, nipped waist jackets worn by sailors before the Civil War.

Perhaps the oddest advertisement is for a dentist who will pull your rotten teeth and install a full set of “Teri Metalic Incorruptible Teeth,” which, I imagine, were metal dentures. “Having passed through the ordeal of fire in making them, they do not absorb the saliva so as to become offensive either to the taste or smell: no particle of food can adhere to them, so the breath remains sweet. These Incorruptible Teeth retain color, solidity, durability, polish, strength, and beauty not surpassed by any.” Another Dauphin Street dentist offers a carrot to lure customers: “Operations performed at the residence of the patient without extra charge.”

The world of luxury available to Mobilians from the constant arrival of ships is a testament to the amount of money flowing through the city, with merchants bragging of the dresses in the latest styles from New York and the European capitals, rendered in velvet, cashmere, and handmade lace. And then there are the ads for runaway slaves.

The slave markets were also downtown, three according to advertisements in a copy of the Railroad Time Table and Guide published in 1863. (The city of Mobile today recognizes only one slave market site downtown.) One of the advertisements is for a “Negro Mart,” where slaves were sold on commission.

It seems certain that Meaher, who by the end of his life ranked among the five or six wealthiest men in Mobile, would have interacted with Dr. Josiah Clark Nott, a Paris-trained physician who arrived in Mobile in 1833, two years before Meaher. Nott founded Alabama’s first medical school in Mobile, and was one of the first scientists to suspect that insects, namely mosquitoes, were responsible for transmitting yellow fever, which ultimately killed four of Nott’s children in one week. During the three decades the two men spent climbing to the top of Mobile society, Nott rose to prominence as one of the nation’s leading architects of racist thought. In 1854, he was celebrated as the coauthor of a now notorious text, Introduction to the Types of Mankind. The book was a best seller, going to twelve printings. It is described by Dr. Scott Trafton, a George Mason University professor, as “one of the most racist texts ever written, a classic of American racism as much as American science, and is today considered the highwater mark of American scientific racism.”

Nott enslaved nine people at his home and promoted the idea that blacks and whites were different species, which “differ as much as the swan from the goose, the horse and the ass.” He preached a sort of pseudoscientific racism, relying on biological markers such as cranial measurements and facial features to create a hierarchy of races, with whites, naturally, at the top. He gave lectures in Mobile with titles such as “The Natural History of the Caucasian and Negro Races,” and was a celebrated member of the city’s society. Writing a bizarre quasi-medical analysis conducted for the life insurance industry, regarding the benefits of insuring the people one enslaved to protect your investment in case they died, Nott explained his worldview succinctly: “The negro achieves his greatest perfection, physical and moral, and also greatest longevity, in a state of slavery.”

That attitude, that being enslaved was a gift to Africans, was common in the Mobile that Nott and Meaher inhabited. Such was the spirit of the place and its people as Timothy Meaher rose from his beginning as a deckhand to become a first mate on several boats, then captain of his own steamboat in 1846, eleven years after his arrival in Alabama. Along the way, he also bought timberland and then built a sawmill on a parcel he purchased between Three Mile Creek and Chickasabogue, a bayou just north of downtown Mobile. The mill was soon doing a robust business sawing Alabama pine and oak into planks and shipping them around the Gulf Coast and to foreign ports. With the additional income generated by the sawmill and his plantations, Meaher and his surviving brothers, James and Burns, opened a shipyard adjacent to the mill. The Meahers quickly increased their holdings, constructing a total of eight river steamboats, “all built at Mobile, owned and commanded by myself,” according to Meaher.

By the 1850s, the Meaher brothers enslaved more than five dozen people, who worked the fields on their plantations, harvested timber from their forests, worked in their homes, ran the sawmill, and labored on the steamboat fleet they commanded. By the year 1858, twenty-three years after they arrived in Mobile, the Meahers were indisputably wealthy and fully invested in the Southern slave culture. The family’s allegiance was as plain as the name they put on the latest steamboat built in the Meaher shipyard, the Southern Republic. This blatant endorsement for the creation of an autonomous slave nation offers proof of the total conversion of Timothy Meaher—from native-born son of the free state of Maine to wealthy Alabama plantation owner engaged in saber-rattling against Yankee abolitionists.

Given the timing of Meaher’s bet aboard the Roger B. Taney in 1859, it is almost certain that the tale of the Wanderer then unfolding in the press was at the center of the conversation on the deck of the steamboat. When Meaher retorted, “No one will be hanged,” to the New Yorker, he was defending Charles Lamar and his conspirators. When he made his bet, he was casting his lot with Lamar and Walker, as men of principled action. All Meaher needed to accomplish his goal was a ship capable of sailing to Africa.
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